# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO** STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, ٧. JARROD WIEBE, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY The Honorable Scott Collier, Judge **BRIEF OF APPELLANT** DANA M. NELSON

Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

## **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court violated appellant's Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination by admitting his statements to police detectives, where police did not scrupulously honor appellant's invocation of his right to silence.
- 2. The court violated appellant's right to due process by assigning him a burden to prove he was not an accomplice as a defense to the charged offenses.
- 3. The trial court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial during jury selection.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. During custodial interrogation, police detectives asked appellant to tell his side of the story. Pretrial Ex 2, at 2. Appellant paused for 17 seconds and then said, "I, I have nothing to say." Id.; RP 41.¹ Despite this, police continued the interrogation, telling appellant it was a "fucked up situation" with long term consequences, warning him "this is the last chance" to tell his side of the story, and asking whether he was a "hardcore criminal that's out tying people up and doin[g] a bunch of bad stuff with guns" or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is referred to as "RP" and contained in three bound volumes, consecutively paginated.

"just a kid that made some bad decisions and can explain why and how?" Id.

Where appellant invoked his right to silence, and where the detectives failed to scrupulously honor that invocation, did the court's admission of appellant's statements violate his Fifth Amendment privilege to remain silent?

2. The state's theory was that appellant was guilty as an accomplice by acting as the lookout while others committed the charged crimes. In that vein, the jury was instructed that a person is an accomplice in the commission of a crime if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he aids or agrees to aid another person in committing the crime. CP 46. However, the court also instructed the jury – over defense counsel's objection – that a person is <u>not</u> an accomplice if he terminates his complicity prior to the crime and either warns law enforcement or otherwise makes a good faith effort to prevent the commission of the crime. CP 48.

In so instructing the jury, did the court effectively force appellant to take on an affirmative defense and thereby assign to appellant a burden to prove he was <u>not</u> an accomplice, in violation of his right to due process?

3. Where the court took peremptory challenges based on a piece of paper silently passed back and forth between the parties, did the court violate appellant's constitutional right to a public trial?

#### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### 1. <u>Overview</u>

Following a jury trial in Clark County Superior Court, appellant Jarrod Wiebe was convicted of the following counts: (1) first degree burglary; (2) first degree kidnapping; (3) first degree kidnapping; (4) first degree robbery; (5) second degree extortion; (6) first degree criminal impersonation; and (7)-(16) theft of a firearm (10 counts). RP 1040-1041. For counts (1)-(4), Wiebe was also convicted of two firearm enhancements, one for each gun two of his alleged accomplices carried. RP 1040-1041. Similarly, for count (5), Wiebe was convicted of one firearm enhancement for a gun one of his alleged accomplices carried. RP 1041.

The state's theory at trial was that Wiebe acted as an accomplice by standing outside and acting as a lookout, while three other men (Larry Kyle, Regan Davis and Ruben Vega) barged into the home of Casimiro Arellano and Manatalia Arevalos and committed the aforementioned crimes. RP 1082.

There was no allegation or evidence Wiebe was armed. RP 1077. Despite this, he was subject to 41.5 years of hard time by virtue of the enhancements. RP 1059-60, 1065. In light of the fact his accomplices pled out before Wiebe's trial and received much lighter sentences consisting of 14 years (Vega), 10 years (Kyle) and 4.5 years (Davis), the court imposed concurrent exceptional sentences below the standard range amounting to a base sentence of 4 years total.<sup>2</sup> CP 132; RP 1066, 1097. The court found the length of Wiebe's presumptive sentence and the disparity between it and those of his alleged accomplices "shocked the conscience." RP 1066-67, 1096.

Following sentencing, defense counsel filed a motion for reconsideration of the sentence on grounds the kidnapping charges should have merged with the robbery under <u>State v. Korum</u>, 120 Wn. App. 686, 86 P.3d 166 (2004) (merger applies where kidnap is merely incidental to robbery), <u>reversed on other grounds</u>, 157 Wn.2d 614, 141 P.3d 13 (2012), <u>overruled by</u>, <u>State v. Berg</u>, 181 Wn.2d 857, 337 P.3d 310 (2014) (whether kidnapping incidental to robbery irrelevant as to the sufficiency of the evidence regarding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Under <u>In re Mulholland</u>, 161 Wn.2d 322, 166 P.3d 677 (2007), the court has discretion to run serious violent offenses concurrently, when proper mitigating factors apply.

the kidnap). CP 162-73. Despite the Supreme Court's then-recent decision in Berg, the prosecutor agreed Wiebe was entitled to the benefit of the law as it existed at the time of his offenses, which required merger of the kidnapping and robbery charges. CP 168-173; RP 1117-1118.

The court agreed and entered a Memorandum of Disposition indicating the kidnapping charges merged with the robbery and that Wiebe's new total sentence was 306 months, which included the 4-year base sentence plus the remaining 5 firearm enhancements (since the kidnapping counts merged, the firearm enhancements associated with them merged as well). CP 176; RP 1124-26.

2. <u>Denial of Motion to Suppress Wiebe's Custodial Statements Made in Response to Continued Police Interrogation, Despite Wiebe's Statement He had Nothing to Say.</u>

Wiebe moved to suppress statements he made during a police interview following his arrest on grounds police did not scrupulously honor his invocation of the right to silence.<sup>3</sup> CP 14-25. The relevant portion of the interview for purposes of the suppression motion is as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Detective Duncan Hoss acknowledged Wiebe was in handcuffs, was not free to leave and that the interview amounted to custodial interrogation. RP 30. The court agreed the interview was custodial interrogation. RP 58.

JS: Okay, this is Detective Jared Stevens with the Clark County Sheriff's Office. It is December 19<sup>th</sup>, 2013. It's 1742 hours. Currently at the Clark County Sheriff's Office West Precinct. With me in the room are or yeah Detective Sergeant Duncan Hoss and Jarrod, is it Wiebe?

JW: Wiebe.

JS: Wiebe. Wiebe, can you spell your last name for me?

JW: W-I-E-B as in boy, E again.

JS: And spell your first name for me.

JW: J-A-R-R-O-D.

JS: And what is your date of birth, Jarrod?

JW: 09/03/87

JS: Okay. And you have been advised of your rights, correct?

JW: Yes.

JS: And having those rights in mind you're still willing to talk to me, correct?

JW: Yes sir.

JS. Okay. Do you see the recorder in front a you here?

JW: Yes sir.

JS: Okay am I recording this with your permission?

JW: Yes sir.

JS: Okay. So stories have a beginning, a middle and an end. We learn that when we're all really young first learning how to read. Why don't you tell me the story about what, what happened today.

JW: I, I have nothing to say.

JS: You have nothing to say?

DH: All right. Here's, here's the deal Jarrod, we are going to complete a report. You got that right? From your Theft III's and stuff, [4] you know, we put down what happened. Well there's (inaudible) to be involved, right? We've talked to everybody else so we're gonna get their side of the story. All we're lookin for is your side of it. Now, you don't have to tell us, you know, you remember your rights, I can reread em if you want but I'm giving you the opportunity here cause this is the last chance you got to give your side of the story as to what happened, how you got here cause I got to be honest with you this is kind of a it's got long fucked up situation and Now whether you want to be consequences. cooperative in it or not that's completely up to you. I don't care one way. If you decide that this interview is over tell me right now and I get to go home. But I'm willing to give you that chance and stick around if want it but this is the last chance. I'm not gonna coerce you into anything, I'm only gonna give you the opportunity but I want you to know that the charges that we're lookin at are significant and serious. So having that additional information in mind, we aint talking about your Theft III's now. It's completely up to you and I will give you fifteen seconds to decide whether you want to talk with us or not. That's fifteen seconds my friend. I can see you're worried about your future.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Wiebe has a third degree theft conviction out of Issaquah Municipal court. RP 69.

JS: Look man, none of us are new at this, it's not a whodunit. Now we're just trying to figure out why. Are you guys a bunch a hardcore criminals, are you a hardcore criminal that's out tying people up and doin a bunch a bad stuff with guns or are you just a kid that made some bad decisions and can explain why and how?

Ex 2 (pretrial), pages 1-2 (emphasis added).

At the suppression hearing, Hoss acknowledged there was a 17-second delay between the time Stevens asked Wiebe to tell the story of what happened and when Wiebe responded he had nothing to say. RP 41. When asked if "I have nothing to say" was the "functional equivalent" of "saying that I'm exercising my right to remain silent," Hoss answered "not necessarily." RP 41.

Stevens testified similarly. When asked what he took "I have nothing to say" to mean, he answered:

I mean, at that point, oftentimes when you talk to suspects, they said they have nothing to say because they're ashamed; or they can't explain their actions or what happened. It's, you know, it's just a response to a question.

RP 47.

As for the rest of the interview, following the detectives' assertions it was a "fucked up situation" with "long term consequences" and question whether Wiebe was a "hardcore criminal[]" or just a "kid that made some bad decisions," Wiebe

stated he was just along for the ride and did not know what was planned. Ex 2, page 2. Wiebe explained that he, Kyle, Davis and Vega had driven to Clark County from Snohomish, but that he thought they were just taking a road trip. Ex 2, at page 4. He acknowledged that as they neared Clark County, however, someone said something about:

someone who, who was in the wrong that needed to be like, like paid a visit to and consequences taken care and I, I was like, what, okay, and I don't know why I, just its so far away from home I didn't know what to do.

#### Ex 2, page 4.

Wiebe did not ask for clarification, but admitted "they said that I would just have to be a innocent bystander that just stands by and just overlooks[.]" Ex 2, page 4. Stevens followed up asking, "so you were gonna be the lookout," and Wiebe said yes. Ex 2, page 4.

When Stevens asked what happened when they reached Arellano's house, Wiebe responded:

We proceeded to get out a the vehicle and Ruben knocked upon the door and that's when um, a person, you know, answered the door and he, and he spoke in Spanish. I didn't know what was being said, I was just standing there like I was told.

And he forces, you know, like he tried to, the person tried to close the door real quick and he forced his way into the house.

Ex 2, at 5. Wiebe said he stayed outside, while Kyle and Davis followed Vega inside. Ex 2, at 5. The door was closed, but Wiebe admitted he knocked on it when some people came by. Ex 2, at page 5. Sometime later, Kyle, Davis and Vega started bringing firearms out. Ex 2, at 5. Wiebe did not assist and did not know of anything else that may have been brought out, such as money or drugs. Ex 2, at 5.

Wiebe was dressed normally, but told the police Vega was wearing camouflage pants and a vest with the word "SWAT" on the front. Ex 2, at 6-7. Wiebe said Vega had a gun with a wooden handle tucked in the back of his pants. Ex 2, at 7. Kyle was wearing camouflage pants, a black coat and a hat. Ex 2, at 7. Wiebe was pretty sure he also had a gun. Ex 2, at 8. Davis was dressed in all-over camouflage. Ex 2, at 9. When asked if Davis had a gun, Wiebe responded, "I'm sure he did." Ex 2, at 9. But Wiebe said he did not see it. Ex 2, at 10. When asked, Wiebe said he thought Kyle, Davis and Vega must have put on their gear when they stopped at Walmart. Ex 2, at 8.

Kyle was driving as they left the residence, and Wiebe was sitting in the rear passenger seat. Ex 2, at 10. They were soon pulled over by the police. Ex 2, at 10.

In arguing the suppression motion, defense counsel pointed out there was dead silence for 17 seconds between the time Stevens asked Wiebe to tell his story and when Wiebe responded he had nothing to say. RP 52. As defense counsel argued, Weibe thought long and hard about his response. RP 52. Although Wiebe previously stated the detectives were recording with his permission, he clearly indicated he no longer wanted to talk. Wiebe's response he had nothing to say was the functional equivalent of Wiebe saying, I invoke my right to silence. Because the police did not scrupulously honor Wiebe's right to silence, his statements should be suppressed. RP 54-55

The court denied the motion to suppress, reasoning Wiebe's assertion, "I, I have nothing to say" was not an unambiguous invocation of his right to silence. CP 26-28. The court's Memorandum of Opinion states:

The central deciding point is when the Defendant said "I, I have nothing to say." Did this end the interrogation and anything said afterwards should be suppressed in violation of his Miranda rights. I find that this was not an unambiguous and unequivocal

invocation of his rights. He said he was willing to answer questions and did in fact start out answering some questions and then said he had nothing to say. Was that a response to the last question or an unambiguous and unequivocal invocation of his rights signaling the end of the interview? It's not clear to the court, so it stands to reason that it was not clear to the officers as well. Also, when the officers followed this up they reminded him of his rights and offered to read them again and informed the Defendant he didn't need to talk to them.

CP 27. Nonetheless, the court noted it was a "close call." RP 60, 64, 68.

3. <u>Instruction Relating to Accomplice Liability Given</u>
<u>Over Defense Counsel's Objection</u>

At the state's request and over defense counsel's objection, the court gave the following instruction:

A person is not an accomplice in a crime committed by another person if he or she terminates his or her complicity prior to the commission of the crime, and either gives timely warning to the law enforcement authorities or otherwise makes a good faith effort to prevent the commission of the crime.

CP 48 (Instruction 8); RP 931; RCW 9A.08.020(5)(b).

Defense counsel argued he was not raising this affirmative defense and did not want to be limited as to why the jury should doubt Wiebe acted as an accomplice:

-- the reason I would object to that, Your Honor - I think that, first of all, I'm not raising that as a defense. I think that's kind of a - that's almost like an

affirmative defense. I'm not raising that as a defense here, that, you know, he terminated his complicity and gave a timely warning or made an effort to prevent the commission of that crime. The danger that comes in, though, is that I don't want the jury to think that this is the only way that somebody could not be an accomplice here, in that, if that isn't shown, then nothing else makes any difference. I think it adds confusion to it. And so I would ask that that not be submitted to the jury.

RP 95.

#### 4. <u>Trial Testimony</u>

Casimiro Arellano lives and works on a dairy farm in Ridgefield. RP 520. Around 2:20 p.m. on December 19, 2013, he and his wife Manatalia Arevalos were inside their trailer watching television when they heard a knock on the door. RP 523. Arevalos, who was sitting on the couch, told Casimiro it must be for him. RP 525, 626. Arellano testified that when he opened the door slightly to see who was there, "they" pushed it open and jumped on him. RP 526.

Arellano testified he saw 4 men, but the first one through the door was wearing a vest with a black .9mm gun in the front and a baseball style hat. RP 527, 529-30, 541. One of the men spoke Spanish and was possibly Mexican. RP 531. According to Arellano, these men were approximately age 40. RP 532. The

third was older with gray hair, wearing clothes typical of a soldier or hunter. RP 531-534. Arellano described the fourth man as younger, with a goatee or beard. RP 532. He did not remember what the younger man was wearing. RP 534. At trial, he identified Wiebe as the fourth man. RP 556.

The first man wanted to know where to find "Francisco." RP 527. Arellano testified he told the men his name was Casimiro, but the men grabbed him and tied his hands behind his back with "white plastics." RP 530. According to Arellano, they sat him on the couch and asked for money and drugs. RP 530. Arellano testified the Spanish-speaking man also said that immigration, police and dogs were coming. RP 530.

Arellano testified the men did not physically restrain his wife, but that she continued to sit on the couch next to him, after the men reportedly pushed Arellano onto the couch. RP 536.

Arellano testified the Spanish-speaking man was doing all the talking and demanded money and drugs; Arellano acknowledged he had been investigated for drugs in the past. RP 534.

Arellano told the men he did not have drugs, but he did have weapons. RP 534. Arellano testified that when the men continued

to hassle him, his wife stood up and offered to show them where the weapons were, if they left Arellano alone. RP 536-37. Arevalos went into the bedroom with the longer, gray-haired man and Spanish-speaking man to get the guns. RP 537-538. Meanwhile, the first man with the baseball cap stayed with Arellano. RP 537. Arellano testified the fourth man was outside at this time, but that he brought two other dairy farm workers inside.<sup>5</sup> RP 538, 575-76.

Reportedly, the long-haired man brought the guns out from the bedroom and put them by the front door. RP 539. According to Arellano, the younger man helped take the guns out to the car. RP 540.

Arellano claimed the Spanish speaking man also asked for \$10,000.00 in exchange for not taking Arellano and his wife to jail. RP 540. At that point, Arevalos reportedly stood up and accused the men of not being police, because police don't ask for money. RP 541.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Raudel Sedano testified somebody called for him and his nephew Lucilo Sedano to go inside the house and may have opened the door. RP 666, 668. When Sedano and his nephew went inside, 3 men were inside and had Arellano tied up on the couch. RP 666. The fourth man remained outside. RP 666. Other than asking whether Sedano and his nephew knew Francisco, the men did not interact with Sedano and his nephew. RP 669-670. After the men left, Sedano and his nephew went back to work. RP 671. Lucilo Sedano testified similarly, except he said someone opened the door from inside, and the fourth man outside stayed outside the entire time. RP 676-683. Lucilo Sedano also testified the outside man was dressed normally. RP 685.

When Arellano said their money was in the bank, the Spanish-speaking man asked how much he had on him. RP 543. Arellano said about \$400.00 and stood up to allow his wife to take it from his pocket and hand it to the Spanish-speaking man. RP 543. According to Arellano, everyone but the Spanish-speaking man left. RP 544.

Arellano testified the Spanish-speaking man lingered to say he was going to get a card with his number to call in case the government came. RP 544. But he got in the car and left with the others. RP 545.

Arellano testified the younger man never demanded money or drugs and did not have a weapon. RP 577. Arellano did not know whether he was in the house when the Spanish-speaking man patted down the other dairy farm workers. RP 576. The younger man did not take any money from Arellano. RP 577. Arellano did not know if he was in the house when the Spanish-speaking man demanded \$10,000.00. RP 579.

Arevalos testified similarly to Arellano (RP 623-646). Before showing the older man and Spanish-speaking man the guns in the bedroom, she sat willingly next to Arellano on the couch. RP 634, 636. However, she testified that when the 3 men first came inside,

she was going to get up from the couch but the men told her not to. RP 656. Once Arevalos explained she was going to turn off the television, they said ok. RP 656.

Unlike Arellano, however, Arevalos testified the younger man stayed outside the whole time, except for when he reportedly brought in the two other dairy farmer workers and when he reportedly helped take the guns outside. RP 628, 632, 634, 640, 654.

Arevalos identified Wiebe as the one who stayed outside. RP 651. Wiebe did not enter with the other 3 men; he was not inside when the 3 men tied Arellano up and demanded drugs and guns; and he was not present when the Spanish-speaking man demanded \$10,000.00 or took Arellano's money. RP 632, 654-655. However, Arevalos testified she did not see Wiebe try to stop what the others were doing. RP 656.

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