NO. 47057-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JARROD ALAN WIEBE, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-02414-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

6

£

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Wiebe's recitation of the factual and procedural history of this case.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING WIEBE'S STATEMENTS TO THE DETECTIVES.

Wiebe contends that the trial court erred in concluding, as a mixed decision of law and fact, that Wiebe did not unequivocally invoke his Fifth Amendment right to silence following his knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of that right. The State disagrees with Wiebe, and asks this Court to find that Wiebe's remark was equivocal and unclear in the context of how and when it was uttered.

A person may waive his or her *Miranda* rights; the government bears the burden of showing, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the suspect understood his rights and voluntarily waived them. *State v. Radcliffe*, 164 Wn.2d 900, 905, 194 P.3d 250 (2008) (citing *Edwards v.*

Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 482, 101 S. Ct. 1880 (1981)). Wiebe does not challenge the trial court's finding that he knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to silence. Rather, he claims that the trial court erred in finding that he did not unequivocally revoke his waiver. Whether Wiebe unequivocally revoked his waiver of his constitutional right to silence is a mixed question of law and fact. In re Cross, 180 Wn.2d 664, 680, 327 P.3d 660 (2014); State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689, 709, 92 P.3d 202 (2004). In this case the trial court memorialized its findings of fact and conclusions of law in a memorandum opinion found at Clerk's Papers 26-28. Wiebe doesn't assign error to any specific finding of fact or conclusion of law. He appears to assign error only to the trial court's conclusion of law where the court said "Therefore the court is not suppressing the statements of the Defendant on this December 19, 2013 interrogation." CP 28. Unchallenged findings of fact are treated as verities on appeal. State v. Pierce, 169 Wn.App. 533, 544, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012); State v. Lorenz, 152 Wn.2d 22, 30, 93 P.3d 133 (2004). When error is assigned to a conclusion of law, this Court reviews de novo whether the trial court derived a proper conclusion of law from its findings of fact. Id.

Here, the trial court made a finding of fact that Wiebe's remark, discussed below, "was not an unambiguous and unequivocal invocation of his rights." CP 27. This finding of fact is not challenged here. Rather, Wiebe—in arguing his statement should not have been admitted—is arguing that this, as a conclusion of law, is improper.

Following Wiebe's arrest, he voluntarily spoke with Detectives Hoss and Stevens. Exhibit 2; RP 32-34. At pages 1-2 of Exhibit 2 on the CrR 3.5 hearing, Wiebe answers questions about his name and date of birth. Exhibit 2 at p. 1. Wiebe spells both his first and last names. Exhibit 2. Detective Stevens then asks Wiebe whether he's been advised of his rights, and he confirms that he has. Id. Detective Stevens asks Wiebe if, with those rights in mind, he is willing to talk to the detectives? Wiebe says "Yes sir." Id. Detective Stevens confirms that Wiebe can see the voice recorder, and asks Wiebe if he (Stevens) has permission to record him. Exhibit 2 at p. 1-2. Wiebe replied "Yes sir." Exhibit 2 at p. 2. At that point, Detective Stevens asks this open-ended question: "Why don't you tell me the story about what, what happened today?" Exhibit 2 at p. 2. Wiebe responded "I, I have nothing to say." *Id.* The trial court correctly concluded that this remark was not an unequivocal invocation of Wiebe's right to remain silent.

A Fifth Amendment right, whether it be the right to silence or the right to speak to an attorney before questioning, must be invoked *unambiguously. State v. Piatnitsky*, 180 Wn.2d 407, 413, 325 P.3d 167

(2014).¹ "This is a bright-line inquiry; a statement either is ' "an assertion of [*Miranda* rights] or it is not." *Piatnitsky* at 413, quoting *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 459, 114 S.Ct. 2350 (1994) (quoting *Smith v. Illinois*, 469 U.S. 91, 97–98, 105 S.Ct. 490 (1984)). The inquiry is objective, meaning that "an invocation must be sufficiently clear 'that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be [an invocation of *Miranda* rights]." *Piatnitsky* at 414, quoting *Davis* at 459. A reviewing court must consider the context and circumstances leading up to a claimed invocation of a Fifth Amendment right. *Cross*, supra, at 683, *Piatnitsky*, supra, at 411-12. The statements or conduct leading up to the alleged invocation are not examined in isolation. *State v. I.B.*, 187 Wn.App.315, 321, 348 P.3d 1250 (2015).

For example, in *Piatnitsky*, supra, the defendant was not found to have unequivocally invoked his right to remain silent when he said "I'm not ready to do this, man." The detective asked for clarification because Piatnitsky had earlier indicated his willingness to confess on an audio recording. Piatnitsky then said "I just write it down, man, I can't do this. I, I, I just write, man. I don't, I don't want…I don't want to talk right now, man." *Piatnitsky* at 414. The Supreme Court found that Piatnitsky had not unequivocally invoked his right to remain silent. *Id.* Similarly, in *State v*.

¹ "[W]e draw no distinctions between the invocations of different *Miranda* rights." *Piatnitsky* at 413.

Walker, 129 Wn.App. 258, 274, 118 P.3d 935 (2005), the defendant was not found to have unequivocally invoked his right to remain silent when told the police that he didn't want to say anything that would make him look guilty or incriminate him. In State v. Radcliffe, 164 Wn.2d 900, 907, 194 P.3d 250 (2008), the defendant was not found to have unequivocally invoked his right to counsel when he said "maybe [I] should contact an attorney." In State v. Gasteazoro-Paniagua, 173 Wn.App. 751, 756-59, 294 P.3d 857 (2013), the defendant did not unequivocally request an attorney when he said, in response to police questioning, "I mean I guess I'll have to talk to a lawyer about it and, you know, I'll mention that you guys are down here with a story." In State v. I.B., 187 Wn.App. 315, 317, 323, 348 P.3d 1250 (2015), however, the juvenile defendant unequivocally invoked his right to remain silent when, in response to the initial question of whether he would waive his rights and speak to the police, he shook his head from side to side. Likewise, in Cross, supra, the defendant unequivocally invoked his right to remain silent when, in response to being read his Miranda rights, he said "I don't want to talk about it." *Cross* at 684.

Here, the plain language used by Wiebe would not have led a reasonable officer to conclude that Wiebe was unequivocally revoking his waiver of his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. Unlike the

defendant in State v. I.B., supra, Wiebe did not say "I have nothing to say" in response to the *initial question* of whether he was willing to speak to the officers. He freely indicated both his willingness to speak to the detectives and his willingness to be recorded. Rather, he said "I have nothing to say" in response to an open-ended question about what he had to say, overall, about what had occurred that day. Moreover, Wiebe's remark came right after he told the detectives he was willing to talk and be recorded. This makes his remark, if viewed as an unequivocal revocation of the waiver he had made seconds earlier, very strange. If Wiebe had experienced a very rapid change of heart about whether to speak to the detectives, one would expect him to say something along the lines of "You know, I've changed my mind. I don't want to talk to you." As this Court noted in Gasteazoro-Paniagua, a reasonable police officer would expect a defendant revoking a prior express waiver of Miranda rights to "tell [the officers] outright he would not answer any more questions..." Gasteazoro-Paniagua at 759. But the words, "I, I have nothing to say," in response to an open-ended. general question about what occurred that day, coming immediately after an express waiver of the right to remain silent, are ambiguous and could just as easily be construed as "I didn't do anything wrong," or "I don't want to incriminate myself" (as in State v. Walker, supra, at 274). Wiebe

did not use words that unequivocally expressed revocation of the waiver of rights he gave mere seconds before.

Although not required to clarify Wiebe's intent in the face of an equivocal remark, these detectives did so in an abundance of caution. *Gasteazoro-Paniagua* at 761, citing *Davis v. United States*, supra, at 461 ("Although we hold that Gasteazoro–Paniagua's statement was not an unequivocal request for counsel, we take the opportunity to emphasize that 'when a suspect makes an ambiguous or equivocal statement it will often be good police practice for the interviewing officers to clarify whether or not he actually wants an attorney."") Detective Hoss heeded this Court's suggestion, in *Gasteazoro-Paniagua*, about clarifying an equivocal remark and said:

All right. Here's, here's the deal Jarred, we are going to complete a report. You got that right? From your Theft Ill's and stuff, you know, we put down what happened. Well there's (inaudible) to be involved, right? We've talked to everybody else so we're gonna get their side of the story. All we're lookin for is your side of it. Now, you don't have to tell us, you know, you remember your rights, I can reread em if you want but I'm giving you the opportunity here cause this is the last chance you got to give your side of the story as to what happened, how you got here cause I got to be honest with you this is kind of a fucked up situation and it's got long term consequences. Now whether you want to be cooperative in it or not that's completely up to you. I don't care one way. If you decide that this interview is over tell me right now and I get to go home. But I'm willing to give you that chance and stick around if want it but this is the last chance. I'm not gonna coerce you

into anything, I'm only gonna give you the opportunity but I want you to know that the charges that we're lookin at are significant and serious. So having that additional information in mind, we aint talking about your Theft Ill's now. It's completely up to you and I will give you fifteen seconds to decide whether you want to talk with us or not. That's fifteen seconds my friend. I can see you're worried about your future.

Exhibit 2.

Detective Hoss, no fewer than four times in the above passage, reminded Wiebe of his right to remain silent. That Wiebe did not unequivocally revoke his prior waiver of his right to remain silent is abundantly clear following Hoss's clarification of his remark, after which Wiebe voluntarily spoke to the detectives.

The trial court did not err, as a matter of law, in admitting Wiebe's statement to detectives Hoss and Stevens.

Should this Court disagree with the State on the admissibility of Wiebe's statement, it must then consider whether the error is harmless. *In re Cross,* supra, at 688. The State bears the burden of proving the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* To do so, the State must show that the remaining evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *State v. Guloy,* 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 p.2d 1182 (1985).

In the absence of Wiebe's statement to the police, the remaining evidence is sufficient to sustain his convictions. However, the State is unable to credibly argue that the remaining untainted evidence admitted at trial is "overwhelming." Wiebe's statement was critical to the State's presentation. The State is unable to say that this alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in this trial. Should this Court find error in the trial court's admission of Wiebe's statement, the remedy is to remand for a new trial with suppression of the inadmissible statement.

State v. Rhoden, --- Wn.App.---, 356 P.3d 242, 248 (2015).

÷

3

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ALLOCATE A BURDEN OF PROOF TO WIEBE.

Wiebe assigns error to the trial court's instruction number eight, in

which the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

A person is not an accomplice in a crime committed by another person if he or she terminates his or her complicity prior to the commission of the crime, and either gives timely warning to the law enforcement authorities or otherwise makes a good faith effort to prevent the commission of the crime.

CP 48. Wiebe objected to this instruction at trial. The accomplice liability

statute, found at RCW 9A.08.020, provides, in salient part:

(3) A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of a crime if:

(a) With knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she:

(i) Solicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other person to commit it; or

(ii) Aids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it; or

(b) His or her conduct is expressly declared by law to establish his or her complicity.

(5) Unless otherwise provided by this title or by the law defining the crime, a person is not an accomplice in a crime committed by another person if:

(a) He or she is a victim of that crime; or

. . . .

(b) He or she terminates his or her complicity prior to the commission of the crime, and either gives timely warning to the law enforcement authorities or otherwise makes a good faith effort to prevent the commission of the crime.

(6) A person legally accountable for the conduct of another person may be convicted on proof of the commission of the crime and of his or her complicity therein, though the person claimed to have committed the crime has not been prosecuted or convicted or has been convicted of a different crime or degree of crime or has an immunity to prosecution or conviction or has been acquitted.

Wiebe assumes that RCW 9A.08.020 (5) (b) constitutes a defense

to a crime in which the State alleges the defendant was an accomplice.

Wiebe cites no case which explicitly holds that this provision of the

accomplice liability statute is a defense, rather than merely part of the

definition of what it means to be an accomplice. The State, likewise, has

found no citable authority which directly addresses this question. (Cf.

State v. Handley, 115 Wn.2d 275, 293, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990), in which the Supreme Court references, in dictum, the "withdrawal defense" to accomplice liability. See also State v. Whitaker, 133 Wn.App. 199, 235, 135 P.3d 923 (2006), in which the jury was instructed that a person is not an accomplice if he terminates complicity prior to the crime and makes a good faith effort to prevent the commission of the crime. The defendant argued that the prosecutor committed misconduct when he argued that the defendant's claim of termination of complicity was unsupported by the evidence, and thereby "shifted the burden of proof." The Court rejected this claim, and did not reference the termination of complicity claim as a "defense." Further, the defendant, by framing his assignment of error as one of burden shifting, acknowledged that the burden of showing a lack of termination rests inherently with the State, and did not argue that the mere giving of this instruction to the jury somehow allocated a burden to the defendant where no burden was explicitly stated.)

In Washington, there are two types of defenses. The first is an "affirmative defense," in which a defendant argues he is entitled to acquittal even though the he committed every element of the act with which he was charged. 13A Seth A. Fine and Douglas J. Ende, Washington Practice: Criminal Law, § 3603 (2014-2015 ed.). A negating defense or "quasi-defense," in contrast, negates one or more of the

elements of the crime. *Id.* In the case of a negating defense, the State bears the burden of disproving the defense beyond a reasonable doubt "because the Constitution does not allow the defendant to be given the burden of disproving an element of the crime." *Id*; *State v. W.R., Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 763, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014).

.

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